IN THE SUPRME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Case No. SC09-2200

Appellant,

v.

TED HERRING

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 Fax # (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#

#### INTRODUCTION

Herring shot a convenience store clerk to death on May 29, 1981 during the course of a robbery. Herring was found guilty by a jury and, on March 1, 1982, was sentenced to death. Since that time, Herring's case has been in constant litigation in both state and federal court. Beginning with the 1982 sentencing, Herring's mental status has been а constant topic of consideration -- several appellate decisions have spoken to his mental capacity. No court (except the Circuit Court whose order is under review) to consider this case has ever suggested or implied that Herring is mentally retarded, a fact that is not surprising since Herring has never before claimed that he suffers from mental retardation. In fact, this court and the federal courts have explicitly found to the contrary in the context of ineffectiveness of counsel claims asserting that additional mental state evidence should have been presented.

A year after Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002) was decided, Herring filed a successive post-conviction relief motion in which he claimed, for the first time in the history of this case, that he is mentally retarded and therefore cannot be executed.<sup>1</sup> The Circuit Court conducted an evidentiary hearing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Atkins was decided on June 20, 2002. Herring filed his successive post-conviction relief motion on or about June 20, 2003.

over the State's objection (since there are, after all, factual findings that Herring is not mentally retarded), and, more than four years after the conclusion of that hearing, issued an order finding that Herring is mentally retarded and consequently ineligible for execution under *Atkins*.

In reaching that conclusion, the circuit court ignored this Court's decisions in Nixon v. State, 2 So. 3d 137 (Fla. 2009); Phillips v. State/Crosby, 984 So. 2d 503 (Fla. 2008); Jones v. State, 966 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 2007); Cherry v. State, 959 So. 2d 702 (Fla.), cert denied, 128 S.Ct. 490 (2007); and Zack v State, 911 So. 2d 1190 (Fla. 2005),<sup>2</sup> which explicitly hold that the defendant's IQ must be 70 or below in order to benefit from Atkins.<sup>3</sup> In this case, even after improperly adjusting Herring's IQ score to lower it, the lower court found that Herring's IQ was "approximately 75." Under settled precedent, the finding that Herring's IQ is approximately 75 is dispositive -- that score is too high to entitle him to relief under settled law.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> With respect to *Zack*, the lower court decided that that decision said something other than what this Court has said it does. As to the other decisions, the circuit court simply ignored them.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In a recent case, this Court reiterated "to assert a valid claim under *Atkins*, a defendant must establish that he or she has an IQ of 70 or below." *Schoenwetter v. State/ McNeil*, 2010 WL 2605961 (Fla. July 1, 2010).

The State suggests that oral argument is not necessary in this case. The lower court found, as a fact, that Herring's IQ is "approximately 75." While debate as to whether Herring's score is really higher is possible, even accepting the score of 75 as correct does not help Herring. This Court's precedent requires a score of 70 or below in order to trigger the Atkins prohibition on execution -- no matter how the lower court's interpreted, it is, on its face, absolutely finding is dispositive of the issue because Herring's IQ was found to be above the cut-off that this Court's decisions clearly delineate. The lower court totally ignored those decisions in granting relief, and the State suggests that refusal to follow binding precedent has already consumed enough scarce resources. This case can, and should, be decided without oral argument.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

During the evidentiary hearing conducted in this case, three mental health professionals testified. The testimony was as follows:

Dr. Wilfred VanGorp was retained by the defense. (V3, R288, 297). Dr. VanGorp, who is not licensed to practice psychology in Florida, has performed between 50 and 75 mental retardation evaluations as an independent professional. (V3, R300). Dr. VanGorp recognized the DSM as authoritative, and, in fact, referred to it as the "bible" of his profession. (V3, R301). He

testified that the DSM-IV-TR defines mental retardation as set out above. (V3, R303). Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.203 and the DSM-IV-TR definition are the same, and require an IO score of two standard deviations below the mean (70), along with concurrent deficits in present adaptive functioning as well as onset prior to age 18. (V3, R303, 309). Dr. VanGorp testified that a phenomenon known as the "Flynn effect" is coming into play in this case. (V3, R316). Essentially, the "Flynn effect" is that as time passes following the introduction of an intelligence test instrument, the same individual will score higher on the same test. (V3, R318). However, Dr. VanGorp also testified that there is no way to know how the "Flynn effect" applies to any particular individual, and also testified that given Herring's relatively consistent scores on the various intelligence tests he has taken, there is not much impact from the "Flynn effect" on Herring's test scores. (V3, R400-01).

The various intelligence tests at issue in this case are all Wechsler tests, which produce Verbal, Performance, and Fullscale IQ scores (which is essentially an average of the verbal and performance scores). (V3, R318-19). In 1972, Herring received a full-scale IQ test score of 83. In 1974, Herring received the following scores: Verbal of 81, Performance of 85, and Full-scale of 81. (V3, R319). The 1974 test is the only IQ test which did not produce a significant "split", or difference,

between the Verbal and Performance scores. (V3, R320). In 1976, Herring received the following scores: Verbal of 82, Performance of 67, and Full-scale of 72. (V3, R321). When tested in 2004 by Dr. McClaren, Herring received the following IQ scores: Verbal of 82, Performance of 69, and Full-scale of 74. (V3, R324). Dr. VanGorp spent less than two hours with Herring, conducted no testing of his own, and did not assess Herring's present level of adaptive functioning (which is a required component of a diagnosis under every definition of retardation). (V3, R343, 392). Dr. VanGorp testified that the evaluation process he used in this case is not how he would conduct an evaluation for mental retardation in his private practice, where he would administer intelligence testing in addition to assessing the test subject's present adaptive functioning. (V3, R392). This fact, of necessity, should diminish the reliability and weight given to Dr. VanGorp's ultimate conclusions in this case.

According to Dr. VanGorp, the 1976 testing provides the most accurate information of the four IQ tests Herring has been given. (V3, R374). Truancy affects school performance, as can one's environment and the presence of behavioral issues such as Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder or conduct disorder. (V3, R375). The record evidence submitted in this case indicates that Herring had quite a number of behavioral issues as a child, and was truant a great deal.

Dr. VanGorp testified that the Full-scale score produced on a Wechsler intelligence test is regarded as representing a range of scores that can go up or down by as much as 5 points. (V3, R380-81). Dr. VanGorp testified that he always "subtracted 5 [points] because that's the question at hand" in this case. (V3, R381).<sup>4</sup> However, Dr. VanGorp did admit that it is not possible for an individual to "fake good" or "fake smart" on intelligence testing. (V3, R381). In other words, the attained scores (Verbal, Performance and Full-scale) reflect that Herring's potential is at least at that level, and may actually be higher. Herring falls in the low average range on his Verbal scores, and his spatial impairments reduced the Performance score, which in turn lowers the Full-scale score. (V3, R384, 388). Verbal scores of 99, 81, and 82 are not "in general" consistent with mental retardation. (V3, R384). Dr. VanGorp did state that it is necessary to look at both the Verbal and Performance scores, and Herring's school records contained also noted that manv references to him not "working up to potential." (V3, R385). Notably, Herring has never been diagnosed as mentally retarded by any other mental health professional in his life. (V3, R386).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This testimony strongly suggests that VanGorp intended to diagnose mental retardation from the very beginning of his "evaluation," if not from his first involvement in this case. It certainly indicates that the evaluation was not a neutral and objective one.

Dr. VanGorp is not familiar with the rules and procedures of the Florida Agency for Persons with Disabilities, nor is he familiar with the requirements for a diagnosis of mental retardation in this State. (V3, R391). He did, however, testify that the work that he performed in this case would be insufficient for a disability determination in the State of New York. (V3, R391). The 1976 testing produced a Verbal score of 82, which is uncommon in mentally retarded persons -- the person administering that test reported that the Full-scale score of 72 was a "minimal reflection of [Herring's] potential." (V3, R396-97). (emphasis added). In mentally retarded persons, the Performance score is usually higher than the Verbal score. (V3, R397).

While Dr. VanGorp testified a great deal about the "Flynn effect," Herring's scores have been consistent across time, indicating that there is not very much "Flynn effect" coming into play -- Dr. VanGorp said as much. (V3, R401). Herring probably has ADHD, which can depress the attained IQ score, as will misbehavior during the test session. (V3, R402-03). Herring attained a Verbal score of 99 in one IQ test session, and it is not possible to "fake good." (V3, R403).

Dr. VanGorp was not aware of IQ testing performed on Herring in 1980, during which Herring received the following scores on the Wechsler test: Verbal of 82, Performance of 85,

and Full-scale of 82. (V3, R407). Dr. VanGorp testified that these scores were inconsistent with mental retardation, and that he did not know about these results. (V3, R407).

Dr. Greq Prichard was called as a witness by the State. (V3, R413). Dr. Prichard is a psychologist licensed in the State of Florida who has conducted between 500 and 750 mental retardation evaluations during the course of his career. (V3, R418). As noted above, Herring's 1972 IQ testing produced a Verbal score of 99 and a performance score of 69, for a Fullscale IQ of 83. (V3, R419). The 30-point split between the Verbal and Performance scores indicates a specific learning disability, and is not consistent with mental retardation -- it is not possible to fake good, and a person with mental retardation is simply unable to attain a Verbal score of 99. (V3, R420-21, 422). The variation in Herring's IQ scores on the various tests is not the same as a variation in his IQ -- the reports from prior testing indicate that the examiners thought that Herring was a "capable young man, but that his behavior gets in the way." (V3, R424).

Dr. Prichard attempted to assess Herring's adaptive behavior skills (the second component of the mental retardation definition) by administering the Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales to an aunt with whom Herring had lived. (V3, R425). Herring received a score of 68 - it appeared that this score is

misleading because it was artificially depressed by a low score on one area of the Vineland. (V3, R426). Herring's daily living skills are good. (V3, R426).<sup>5</sup>

When making a determination of mental retardation for the State of Florida's Agency for Persons with Disabilities, an absolute IQ score of 70 or less is required. (V3, R427). The plus/minus 5 discussed by Dr. VanGorp in his testimony is not used, nor is there an adjustment for the "Flynn effect." (V3, R427-28). A review of Herring's prison file indicates that Herring is doing well in the context of his environment, which would certainly seem to imply adequate adaptive functioning. (V3, R429).

The 1980 IQ testing (which Dr. Prichard **did** know about) resulted in a Verbal score of 82, a Performance score of 85, and a Full-scale score of 82. (V3, R429). Those results are inconsistent with mental retardation, and Dr. Prichard opined that the 1976 Performance score of 67 is too low - he felt that the Performance score of 85 obtained in 1980 was probably accurate. (V3, R430-31).

Dr. Prichard conducted an adaptive assessment using the Vineland even though Herring could not meet the criteria for mental retardation based on his IQ test scores. (V3, R439). The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The circuit court completely ignored this testimony, which is uncontested.

overall Vineland score of 68 is misleading -- the scores in the 80s on the daily living and socialization area of the assessment must be considered. (V3, R440). Herring is probably ADHD, and his behavior contributed to his academic difficulties. (V3, R443, 448). Subtracting points to "deal" with the "Flynn effect" is not the standard of practice -- it is impossible to tell whether the average testified to by Dr. VanGorp is really applicable in a particular case. (V3, R449). The Verbal-Performance splits present in Herring's testing are not common in mentally retarded people. (V3, R451). In fact, Dr. Prichard testified that he has never seen splits this large in a retarded individual that he has evaluated -- the usual split is no more than 15 points. (V3, R451). This is noteworthy because he has performed many more evaluations for mental retardation than Dr. VanGorp. Dr. Prichard emphasized that mentally retarded persons do not achieve Verbal IQ scores of 99, and that, because IQ is essentially static, people in general simply do not achieve a Performance IQ of 67 on one administration of a test, and an 85 on another. (V3, R452-53). The low scores are misleading, and the assumption must be that the higher score indicates the individual's true level of functioning. (V3, R454).

The State also presented the testimony of Dr. Harry McClaren, who is a psychologist licensed in the State of Florida. (V4, R457-58). Dr. McClaren has extensive forensic

psychological experience, as well as extensive experience in the area of mental retardation, having diagnosed an individual as mentally retarded about 100 times over the course of his career. R464-65). Dr. McClaren's testimony (V4, concerning the definition and diagnostic criteria applicable to mental retardation was the same as the other witnesses -- Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.203, § 921.137 of the Florida Statutes, and the DSM definition are essentially the same. (V4, R467). Dr. McClaren administered the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale -Third Edition test to Herring as well as the Scales of Independent Behavior - Revised. (V4, R468). The intelligence testing produced a Verbal score of 82, a Performance score of 69, and a Full-scale of 74 (V4, R469). Herring's Verbal score falls in the low average range, and his Performance score falls in the range of mild mental retardation. (V4, R471). The greater the split between scores, the more misleading the Full-scale score is -- the split must be taken into consideration. (V4, R470, 495). In this case, based upon the less than optimal testing conditions, Herring's documented behavior in the prison system, and Dr. McClaren's interview with Herring (during which Herring discussed, inter alia, reading Tom Clancy novels), Dr. McClaren testified that, in his opinion, Herring is not mentally retarded. (V4, R473, 475).

Dr. McClaren testified that, applying a 95% confidence

interval to the IQ testing results he obtained, Herring's true Full-scale IQ falls within the range of 70-79. (V4, R476). Those scores fall outside the range of mental retardation, and Herring's school records point to an emotionally disturbed child who may have been Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disordered. (V4, R476-77). All of Herring's previous intelligence testing produced Full-scale scores above 70, and, again, it is impressive that Herring has never been diagnosed as mentally retarded by any evaluator except for Dr. VanGorp. (V4, R478-480, 536). Dr. McClaren testified that, in his experience, he had never seen a mentally retarded person attain scores like Herring's. (V4, R480).

Herring presently reads at the High School level. (V4, R523). He does not meet the "significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning" prong of the diagnostic criteria, and, because that is so, there is no need to consider the adaptive function deficits prong of the definition. (V4, R524). The "Flynn effect" is derived from research done with a test called the "Raven's Standard Progressive Matrices" -- that test is not acceptable for use in determining retardation under *Fla. R. Crim. P.* 3.203. (V4, R516, 539).

Dr. McClaren's SIB-R test administration produced a score of 49 -- a person with such a score would have few reading, writing or arithmetic skills, would have poor communication and

social skills, and would need help with basic self-care such as eating and dressing. (V4, R529). Such a person would be readily identifiable to an observer as impaired. (V4, R529). There is nothing to suggest that Herring has deficiencies of that magnitude. (V4, R530).

Dr. McClaren testified that the DSM-IV-TR is not merely a cookbook that is applied without regard for clinical judgment about the individual -- the DSM itself states that when there is a significant Verbal/Performance split, the Full-scale score can be misleading. (V4, R534-35). Herring generated a 13-point split, and, because of that split, his Full-scale score is depressed to the extent that it does not give an accurate picture of Herring's true intellectual ability. *Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure* 3.203 makes no reference to assessing the Full-scale IQ score on a plus/minus five (5) scale, and, in any event, even if it could validly be done, the plus/minus 5 would have to be considered to potentially increase as well as reduce the defendant's Full-scale score. (V4, R533).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Under settled Florida law, an individual claiming mental retardation as a bar to execution must have a Full-scale IQ score of 70 or below. This proposition was well-settled at the time that the lower court issued its order setting aside Herring's death sentence. That ruling is wrong **as a matter of** 

**law** because the lower court found as a fact that Herring's Fullscale IQ is "approximately 75." Assuming that score is an accurate representation of Herring's abilities, and that point is open to debate, it is too high to fall under the bar to execution. The lower court ignored settled law in setting Herring's death sentence aside.

#### ARGUMENT

# THE CIRCUIT COURT IGNORED BINDING PRECEDENT

# PRELIMINARY MATTERS

The lower court found that Herring's IQ is "approximately 75." (V19, R2988). Under the precedent of this Court, that should have been the end of the issue. However, the lower court completely failed to follow this Court's precedent which requires an IQ score of less than 70 before a defendant is considered mentally retarded for *Atkins* purposes. The lower court's grant of relief is wrong as a matter of law.

## THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

Because there was an evidentiary hearing in this case, this Court reviews the findings of the circuit court under the competent substantial evidence standard. *Melendez v. State*, 718 So. 2d 746 (Fla. 1998); *Blanco v. State*, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1997). This Court reviews the legal conclusions of the lower court *de novo. Sochor v. State*, 883 So. 2d 766, 771-72

(Fla. 2004). This case presents a rather unusual situation, in that the finding by the circuit court that Herring's IQ is "approximately 75" conclusively establishes that he is not entitled to relief as a matter of law.

# THE LEGAL STANDARD

Since Atkins, this Court has made the legal standard for establishing mental retardation as a bar to execution as clear as it can possibly be:

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