IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-2200

STATE OF FLORIDA,				
Appellant,				
v.				
TED HERRING,				
Appellee.				

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE TED HERRING

Alan S. Goudiss Adam S. Hakki Itzhak Shukrie Christopher W. Greer SHEARMAN & STERLING LLP 599 Lexington Avenue New York, New York 10022 Telephone: (212) 848-4000 Facsimile: (212) 848-7179

Leon H. Handley Florida Bar No. 0033418 Rumberger Kirk & Caldwell, P.A. 300 South Orange Avenue, Suite 1400 Orlando, Florida 32801-3380 Telephone: (407) 872-7300

Facsimile: (407) 649-4941

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

c. The Age Of Onset Evidence Should Not Be Re-Weighed

The State argues that Herring failed to satisfy the "onset before age 18" requirement for mental retardation because, according to the State, Herring was

¹² Giving false testimony, of course, is not an aggravating circumstance for purposes of capital sentencing under Florida law. The trial judge's acknowledgement that false testimony earned Herring a death sentence, coupled with the fact that Herring's mental retardation caused him to provide that testimony, reflect just how far out of bounds Herring's death sentence was.

never formally diagnosed with mental retardation before he turned 18. (App. Br. at 38.) This argument misstates the facts and law.

The State's argument appears to be that mental retardation must actually have been diagnosed before the defendant turned 18 in order for him to be protected under Atkins. That is not the law, and the State cites no case supporting this purported requirement. As discussed previously, the circuit court relied on IQ test scores and detailed evidence of adaptive deficits from Herring's childhood through the present. (See supra at 10-16.) In fact, the circuit court found that a "substantial percentage of the evidence in this case concerns Herring's intellectual and adaptive functioning prior to the age of 18" and that "[t]here does not appear to be any dispute among the parties that, whatever Herring's condition may be, it began well before he turned 18 years old." (R. vol. 19 at 2996.) The State also ignores the fact that, as a child, Herring was diagnosed as "undoubtedly functionally retarded," and recommended for transfer to a school for the "mildly mentally retarded." (See supra at 15-16.)

d. There Are No Judicial Findings That Herring Does Not Have Mental Retardation

The State argues that "Herring has never before claimed that he suffers from mental retardation," and that "this court and the federal courts have explicitly found to the contrary in the context of ineffectiveness of counsel claims." (App. Br. at 1.) It is correct that Herring first challenged his sentence on the ground of

mental retardation after the Supreme Court decided <u>Atkins</u>. That challenge, which was timely and successful, is the subject of this appeal.

It is thus unclear why the State suggests that there are prior judicial findings that Herring is not mentally retarded. None of the purported prior "findings" are quoted or even cited in the State's brief. Nevertheless, at page 29 of its brief, the State asserts, without citation, that the "sentencing Court found, in mitigation, not that Herring was mentally retarded, but that he had a learning disability." The State fails to point out that Herring's sentencing decision, rendered decades before Atkins was decided, did not address and makes no mention of mental retardation, and that no experts or mental health professionals testified or submitted reports at the sentencing. Similarly, the State's suggestion (again without citation) at page 29 of its brief that this Court and the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit made "prior rulings" that Herring is not mentally retarded is incorrect. There are no such factual findings. There was no litigation of mental retardation in any of Herring's appeals. Indeed, Herring never even retained an expert until the present motion was filed.¹³

¹³ The State's one-sentence suggestion, without citation to any legal authority, that mental retardation "appears to be an issue that is collaterally estopped" (App. Br. at 29) is thus baseless. Nor does collateral estoppel appear to be an argument the State is actually pursuing on appeal.

THE CIRCUIT COURT APPLIED THE PROPER STANDARD FOR DETERMINING MENTAL RETARDATION

The State argues that the circuit court "completely failed to follow this Court's precedent which requires an IQ score of less than 70 before a defendant is considered mentally retarded for <u>Atkins</u> purposes." (App. Br. at 14.) The State is incorrect. <u>First</u>, there can be no dispute that the circuit court applied the standard for determining mental retardation that the parties <u>agreed</u> would govern: the DSM-IV-TR. (<u>See supra</u> at 7-9.) As such, the State is barred from arguing on appeal that the circuit court erred by applying the DSM-IV-TR. <u>Second</u>, the circuit court, in any event, applied a standard for determining mental retardation that is consistent with Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.203 and not inconsistent with this Court's precedent.

A. The Circuit Court Applied The Standard The Parties Agreed To, And The State Is Barred From Challenging It

1. The State Agreed That The DSM-IV-TR Governs

Section B.3 of this brief, which appears at pages 7 through 9, sets forth the State's express agreement that the DSM-IV-TR standard for determining mental retardation would govern Herring's motion.

In summary, the State began the evidentiary hearing by stating to the circuit court – on the record – that "we need to make sure we are clear" that "we are using the DSM-IV TR diagnostic and statistical manual, 4th edition text revision

definition of mental retardation." (R. vol. 3 at 262 (emphasis added).)

Immediately thereafter, and also on the record, Herring's counsel confirmed that "[w]e do agree to the DSM-IV as the governing standard and we intend to rely on it." (Id. at 263 (emphasis added).) The parties then proceeded with the hearing with the DSM-IV-TR serving as the governing standard. After the evidentiary hearing, and after the experts on both sides extensively relied on and discussed all relevant aspects of the DSM-IV-TR, the State submitted a proposed final order denying Herring's motion. The State's order again confirmed that the "parties have agreed that the DSM-IV-TR definition of mental retardation is the one that should govern this Court's decision here, and is in fact, the definition of mental retardation that this Court will apply." (R. vol. 19 at 2857 (emphasis added).)

2. The Circuit Court Properly Applied The DSM-IV-TR

As noted, the DSM-IV-TR states that the first criterion and "essential feature of Mental Retardation is significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning." (R. vol. 19 at 2979; R. vol. 10 at 1527.) The DSM-IV-TR goes on to explain that "[g]eneral intellectual functioning is defined by the intelligence quotient (IQ or IQ-equivalent)," and that "[s]ignificantly subaverage intellectual functioning is defined as an IQ of about 70 or below (approximately 2 standard deviations below the mean)." (R. vol. 19 at 2979; R. vol. 10 at 1527 (second emphasis added).) Importantly, the DSM-IV-TR also states that:

It should be noted that there is a measurement error of approximately 5 points in assessing IQ Thus, it is possible to diagnose Mental Retardation in individuals with IQ's between 70 and 75 who exhibit significant deficits in adaptive behavior.

(R. vol. 10 at 1523.) This is the standard the State agreed to and the standard the circuit court applied.

There is no dispute between the parties that, because of the standard measurement error of five points inherent in all accepted IQ tests, the DSM-IV-TR permits a finding of mental retardation in persons with measured IQ scores between 70 and 75 where, as here, significant deficits in adaptive functioning have been found. The State acknowledged this in its proposed final order, stating that the DSM-IV-TR "recognizes" that a "reported Full-scale IQ score actually represents a range of plus/minus 5 points." (R. vol. 19 at 2879.) The State's expert witness, Dr. McClaren, similarly acknowledged that the DSM-IV-TR permits a mental retardation finding in persons with measured IQ scores between 70 and 75. (R. vol. 4 at 494.)

The circuit court made the factual finding that Herring's IQ scores "are at or around the range of 70-75 and thus consistent with a diagnosis of mental retardation." (R. vol. 19 at 2987.) More specifically, the circuit court made a factual finding that:

Based on the evidence presented at the hearing, the Court finds that Herring satisfies the first criterion for mental retardation given his IQ scores of 72 and 74. The State has not provided any legitimate

basis to question the validity of these scores or show that Herring's [two other] scores of 81 and 83 on earlier tests are more valid. To the contrary, it is essentially undisputed that, after allowing for the Flynn effect, those scores [of 81 and 83] are more reflecting of scores of approximately 75. 14

(R. vol. 19 at 2988.)

In the end, the State's proposed final order urged the circuit court to apply the "plain language of the DSM-IV-TR." (R. vol. 19 at 2857.) That is precisely what the circuit court did, including the DSM-IV-TR's plain words that "it is possible to diagnose Mental Retardation in individuals with IQs between 70 and 75 who exhibit significant deficits in adaptive behavior." Drawing all inferences in favor of affirmance as required, the circuit court's findings were amply supported by competent, substantial evidence. ¹⁵

_

¹⁴ In multiple instances, the State's brief asserts that "the lower court found that Herring's IQ was 'approximately 75." (App. Br. at 2.) As the quotations above make clear, the State is mistaken. The circuit court found that Herring's measured IQ scores were "at or around the range of 70-75." (R. vol. 19 at 2987.) The words "approximately 75" refer to Herring's two scores that the circuit court determined were inflated by the Flynn effect, once adjusted. The State does not cite any legal authority for the proposition that <u>all IQ</u> scores must be equally low to permit a diagnosis of mental retardation. <u>See Thomas</u>, 607 F.3d at 757 (rejecting proposition that a score of 77 "automatically defeat[ed] an <u>Atkins</u> claim when the totality of the evidence (scores) indicate[d] that a capital offender suffer[ed] subaverage intellectual functioning").

¹⁵ To the extent the State's proposed order, where it stated its agreement that the DSM-IV-TR "should govern" and "will apply," includes contentions that may have been inconsistent with certain aspects of the DSM-IV-TR, those contentions should be disregarded on appeal. The State agreed to the application of the DSM-IV-TR without equivocation or conditions. It cannot self-servingly excise out selected

3. The State Waived Any Argument That The Circuit Court Applied A Standard For Determining Mental Retardation That Violated Florida Law

Having agreed that the DSM-IV-TR would govern Herring's motion, the State cannot argue on appeal that the circuit court violated Florida law by applying the DSM-IV-TR. It is well settled that a party that submits to the court a proposed standard of decision "may not be heard to urge, on appeal" that it was "error" to apply that standard. See, e.g., Diamond Regal Dev., Inc. v. Matinnaz Constr., Inc., 1 So. 3d 1104, 1106 n.1 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009) (citation omitted); see also Czubak v. State, 570 So. 2d 925, 928 (Fla. 1990) ("Under the invited-error doctrine, a party may not make or invite error at trial and then take advantage of the error on appeal."); Norton v. State, 709 So. 2d 87, 94 (Fla. 1997) ("[A] party may not invite error during the trial and then attempt to raise that error on appeal."); Pope v. State, 441 So. 2d 1073, 1076 (Fla. 1983) (applying invited error doctrine in appeal in capital case). "It is 'a cardinal rule of appellate review that a party may not challenge as error a ruling or other trial proceeding invited by that party." U.S. v. Ross, 131 F.3d 970, 988 (11th Cir. 1997); see also Calloway v. State, 37 So. 3d 891, 893 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010) (where a party "[o]n two separate occasions"

portions of the DSM-IV-TR that support the circuit court's finding of mental retardation.

"acquiesced and agreed to the use" of an allegedly erroneous legal standard, "the error was invited and cannot result in reversal").

The State did far more than just "acquiesce" in the circuit court's application of the DSM-IV-TR. Rather, the State <u>stipulated on the record</u> that the DSM-IV-TR would govern. Likewise, in its proposed final order, the State affirmatively urged that the DSM-IV-TR "should govern" and "will apply." (<u>See supra</u> at 7-9.) This Court has squarely held that where, as here, a party enters into a "stipulation" or agreement, it must live with that agreement and is deemed to have "waived any claim of error" arising therefrom. <u>Terry v. State</u>, 668 So. 2d 954, 963 (Fla. 1996); <u>see also Myrick v. Gillard Grove Serv.</u>, 577 So. 2d 655, 656 (1st DCA 1991) (stipulated matters cannot be undone on appeal).

By agreeing to the application of the DSM-IV-TR, the State waived the right to argue on appeal that the circuit court erred by applying that standard. This, of course, includes the State's waiver of any objection to the court applying the DSM-IV-TR's express language that "it is possible to diagnose Mental Retardation in

_

¹⁶ Although the doctrine of invited error and the authorities cited above are the most applicable, the State's attempted "U-turn" with respect to the DSM-IV-TR is also barred by principles of estoppel. See Blumberg v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co., 790 So. 2d 1061, 1066 (Fla. 2001); see also Deffenbaugh-Williams v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 188 F.3d 278, 281 n.1 (5th Cir. 1999) (stating that judicial estoppel applies to hold a party to its prior stipulation).

individuals with IQs between 70 and 75 who exhibit significant deficits in adaptive behavior."¹⁷

B. The Standard For Mental Retardation Applied By The Circuit Court Is Consistent With Florida Law

The Court need not reach the State's argument that the substantive standard for determining mental retardation applied by the circuit court violated Florida law. As explained in the preceding section, the circuit court undisputedly applied a standard agreed upon by the State, and the State is thus precluded from challenging that standard on appeal. But even if the State's arguments were not precluded, its arguments fail because the circuit court applied a standard consistent with Florida law.

_

challenges a standard it agreed to on the ground that the standard set a higher bar for the government than the law actually required, the government has been held to the standard to which it agreed. See U.S. v. Taylor, 933 F.2d 307, 310 (5th Cir. 1991) (requiring government to prove element not required by applicable law where government had consented to the inclusion of that element in jury instructions); see also U.S. v. Torres-Villalobos, 487 F.3d 607, 611 n.1 (8th Cir. 2007) (requiring government to prove two elements in conjunction with each other that were actually disjunctive under the applicable statute where the government failed to object to jury instruction that required conjunctive proof). Similarly, the State should be bound to its agreement to apply the DSM-IV-TR even if the Court finds that the DSM-IV-TR is more favorable to Herring's position than the otherwise applicable Florida law.

First, the State itself asserted repeatedly that the standard applied by the circuit court – the DSM-IV-TR – is "functionally identical" to the standards provided under Florida law. The State's proposed final order stated:

The DSM-IV-TR is generally accepted within the psychological community as authoritative, and the definition of mental retardation therein is <u>functionally identical</u> to the definition of mental retardation contained in Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.203 and in § 921.137 of the Florida Statutes.

(R. vol. 19 at 2856-57 (emphasis added).) The State made the same statement in its pre-hearing memorandum in connection with the evidentiary hearing. (R. vol. 10 at 1473.) The circuit court relied on these representations and included them in its decision. (R. vol. 19 at 2980-81.) Obviously, applying the DSM-IV-TR cannot violate Florida law if the DSM-IV-TR is "functionally identical" to Florida law. To the extent the State now claims otherwise, the argument was waived when it agreed below that the tests were functionally identical. Norton, 709 So. 2d at 94; Pope, 441 So. 2d at 1076; Terry v. State, 668 So. 2d at 962.

Second, even if the State did not waive the argument that applying the DSM-IV-TR violated Florida law, its arguments are without merit. The definitions of mental retardation in the DSM-IV-TR and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.203(b) are effectively the same. The DSM-IV-TR speaks of an IQ score "approximately 2 standard deviations below the mean" on a "standardized, individually administered intelligence test[]." (R. vol. 19 at 2979; R. vol. 10 at

1527.) Rule 3.203(b) requires "performance that is two or more standard deviations from the mean score on a standardized intelligence test." (R. vol. 19 at 2980); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.203(b).

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